
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Climate Change Advisory 
Board 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Climate Change Advisory Board of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, 
Gravesend DA12 1AU on Wednesday, 12 October 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified 
in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Minutes from Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 12) 

3. Declaration of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public  

 

5. Climate Change Delivery Plan and preparations for Annual Reporting  (Pages 13 - 40) 

6. Biodiversity and tree planting improvements within the Borough of 
Gravesham  

(Pages 41 - 50) 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency.  

 

8. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 

 



included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them. 
 

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in Private 
 

None 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr John Burden (Chair) 
  
 
Councillors: Harold Craske 

Sarah Gow 
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Diane Morton 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 



1

Climate Change Advisory Board 
 

Tuesday, 10 May 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr John Burden (Chair) 
 
Councillors: Harold Craske 

Sarah Gow 
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Diane Morton  
 

 
Sarah Parfitt 

 
Director (Corporate Services) 

Stuart Alford 
Darren Everden 
Wendy Lane 
Simon Hookway         
Nicole Arthur  
Saida Shaikh 
Chris Wakeford 

Assistant Director (Operations) 
Assistant Director (Transformation & IT) 
Assistant Director (Planning)  
Assistant Director (Communities)  
Service Manager (Housing Operations)  
Climate Action Delivery Manager 
Committee Services Officer (Minutes) 

 
 
 
6. Apologies for absence  
 
No apologies for absence were received.  
 
7. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the Climate Change Cross-Party Member Working Group meeting held on 
Monday, 24 January 2022 were agreed and signed by the Chair. 
 
8. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
9. Climate Change Action Delivery Plan  
 
The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) introduced Saida Shaikh, Climate Action 
Delivery Manager to the Committee and advised that Saida would be attending future 
meetings of the Board to present Members with the Climate Change Action Delivery Plan 
 
The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) presented to the Committee the Climate 
Change Delivery Plan.  
 
As part of the Climate Change Strategy, a high-level, strategic Delivery Plan was set out 
under three key workstreams:  
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

2

  Gravesham Borough Council – the organisation Focusing on how the council can 
change its own operations, and those of its employees, wherever possible to reduce 
the level of carbon emissions its produces.  

  Gravesham Borough Council – the housing provider Exploring opportunities to 
bring the council’s current housing stock up to a better level of energy efficiency 
standard where it is possible to do so; ensuring new council housing is built to a high 
level of sustainability and ensuring local planning policy reflects the need for the 
borough to consider energy efficiency in all developments moving forward. 

  Gravesham Borough Council – the community leader It is clear that the council 
cannot directly affect all of the changes that are needed across the borough. 
However, in its role as a community leader, it can work with residents, community 
groups and partners to educate and support them in making changes which will have 
a positive impact on the level of carbon emissions in the borough. 

 
The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) highlighted the following to the Board: 
 

  The working groups are going well; they meet each month and cover the three 
priority groups listed above. 

  One area of feedback was a request for more challenging baseline data and the 
removal of “not applicable” where comparable baseline data could be provided; this 
has now been reflected within the Action Delivery Plan 

  Carbon literacy and EV charging we will be covered later on in the meeting. 
 
The Director (Corporate Services), Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) and Service 
Manager (Housing Operations) fielded questions from the Board and highlighted the 
following: 
 

  The Council has worked with the Energy Savings Trust to create a booklet that 
advises residents on recycling, how to use lighting and heating efficiently. ‘Energy 
Champions’ have also been established 

  The Green Doctors scheme was adopted by KCC under the household support fund 
and the fund has been extended into this year. KCC are working through how best to 
use the money with an emphasis on pensioners and fuel poverty. Some funding is 
likely to come to Boroughs. The Director (Corporate Services) agreed to look into this 
matter further. 

  The Council has already reduced the use of gas boilers and has an air source heat 
pump being installed as well as a computer intelligent infrared heating system that 
will be put in at Gravesham Court. The Council is trialling and testing so it can make 
real decisions about what we do long term. The Heat source pump at Merston Court 
should control costs for people in housing scheme. This also provides a big 
opportunity to influence private households; lots of people have already visited the 
site and got advice and the village hall is looking at installing a ground source heat 
pump. Private Housing are also looking at this area and gathering mini case studies. 

  The Climate Action Delivery Manager is working with the Digital Team to regularly 
update the Council’s website with Climate Change information for residents and 
businesses etc.   

  The Economic Development Team are engaging with the bigger organisations and 
advising them about climate change opportunities. 

  The Council have regular updates from UK power networks regarding electricity 
availability for EV charging and they are aware of the shortcomings in Gravesham 
which is also a national problem too. This issue was raised at a recent meeting 

Page 4



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

3

between Local Authorities, Central Government and UK Power and the Chief 
Executive is raising this matter through the District Councils Network. 

  ‘Passive House principles’ refers to housing that meets the following criteria; no 
thermal bridging, superior windows, mechanical ventilation with heat recovery, quality 
insulation and airtight construction. 

  The Council will look at the Furniture Project for 2023/24 
  The solar panels at Carl Ekman House are for communal electrics and will save 

around £6000 a year 
 
The Chair highlighted the importance of Gravesham’s leadership role in the community and 
how publicity was key to show the way forward.  
 
The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the Climate Change Action Delivery Plan 
 
 
10. IPCC Sixth Assessment Report  
 
The Director (Corporate Services) provided the Climate Change Advisory Board with an 
update on the progress of the work of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) in forming their Sixth Assessment Report. 
 
The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) was established in 1988 and is the 
United Nations body for assessing the science relating to climate change. It provides 
policymakers with regular scientific assessments on the current state of knowledge about 
climate change. 
 
The IPCC is currently preparing its Sixth Assessment Report (AR6). Assessments 
Reports are prepared by the IPCC every 5-7 years and are drawn together from the 
contributions of three working groups, formed of hundreds of scientists from across 
the world: 
 

  Working Group I – The Physical Science Basis 
  Working Group II – Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability 
  Working Group III – Mitigation of Climate Change 

 
The research findings of the three Working Groups will be synthesised into the final, Sixth 
Assessment Report which is expected to be completed later in 2022. 
The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the contents of the report. 
 
11. Carbon Literacy Training Overview  
 
The Director (Corporate Services) provided Members with an overview of the training 
recently attended by officers and Members. 
 
The Climate Change Management Delivery Plan contains an action to “Educate all council 
Members and officers on Climate Change so that they are able to have an awareness of the 
carbon dioxide costs and impacts of everyday activities, and the ability and motivation to 
reduce emissions, on an individual, community and organisational basis. Create 
opportunities and engagement activity to enable them to be actively involved in the council’s 
activity around Climate Change and become advocates for Climate Change in all council, 
business and community operations.” 

Page 5



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

4

 
The delivery of this training is to be coordinated by the Climate Action Delivery Manager. It is 
recognised that the level and content of training will need to be tailored to the nature of roles 
and decision-making responsibilities of individual attendees. 
 
Ahead of designing the internal training for the council, the Local Government Association 
(LGA) provided access free of charge for its Members to externally facilitated Carbon 
Literacy Training for Senior Officers and Members in late February / early March 2022. 
Gravesham were fortunate to secure a number of places for senior officers and Members. 
The feedback received from those attending these sessions was very positive and has 
particularly highlighted the usefulness that awareness of carbon impacts can play in our 
position as policy and decision makers. 
 
Attendance at the training has reinforced the need for training to be targeted at the following 
Groups:  
 

  Members in key roles – Cabinet Members, Shadow Cabinet Members and Chairs of 
Council Committees and Boards (including the Climate Change Advisory Board).  

  Senior Officers – officers who form part of the council’s Wider Management Team.  
  General awareness training to all other officers and Members of the Council. 

 
It was proposed that the Climate Change Advisory Board considers a recommendation to 
Cabinet that Carbon Literacy Training be mandated for all Senior Officers and Members in 
key roles, as set out in paragraphs 2.5.1 and 2.5.2 of the report. It was proposed that this 
training is funded from the Climate Change Reserve. 
 
As per the Climate Change Management Delivery Plan, a programme of general awareness 
training will be developed using the Carbon Literacy Project local government toolkit, with 
the intention that this will be supported by an internal delivery team, trained to facilitate the 
training across the organisation. 
 
The Board discussed the training in detail and considered who the training should be aimed 
at and when it should be delivered. 
 

Resolved that the Climate Change Advisory Board recommends to Cabinet that 
Carbon Literacy Training be endorsed for Members in key roles and Senior Officers, 
with general awareness training provided for all Members and Officers.  Officers be 
authorised to proceed with developing the training offering, subject to sufficient 
budget being available and taking into account the Member Induction and 
Development programme which is currently being prepared. 

 
12. EV Charging Update  
 
The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) provided Members with an update on 
progress with Electric Vehicle charge points and highlighted the following: 
 

  To date, delivery of charge points in the borough have been achieved through 
funding provided by the Office of Zero Emissions Vehicles (OZEV) and the On- 
Street Residential Charge point Scheme (ORCS). 

  On 25th March 2022, the government published the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 

Page 6



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

5

Strategy which specifies access to local on-street public charging as essential. As a 
result, a package of measures are being made available to support local 
authorities and transform local on-street charging. This includes uplifting the new 
Local EV Infrastructure (LEVI) Fund with £400m of capital and £50m of resource 
funding. And, the continuation of the On-Street Residential Charge point Scheme 
with £20m allocated for 2022/23. 

  Within the Climate Change Management Delivery Plan, we have committed to 
explore the provision of EV charging points within council owned assets and 
implement actions where a sound business case can be provided. 

  Milton Place car park and Parrock Street car park both now have one dual 
connector fast charger (can charge 2 vehicles at once) and one ultra-fast EV 
charge point. Both chargers are operated by BP Pulse. 

  In addition to the above, BP Pulse will also be installing an additional 10 x dual 
connector 7kW EV charge points in Parrock Street car park using ORCS funding. 
This is to provide charging opportunities for town centre residents who do not 
have access to off street car charging at home. 

  Gravesham have also secured OZEV funding under the Kent600 programme with 
Connected Kerb to install additional EV charge points at more council owned car 
parks. Details of these are contained in the table below. 
 

  
Location Number of charge points 

Rathmore Road Car Park, Gravesend 4 (or 6 if capacity allows) 

Echo Square Car Park, Gravesend 4 

May Avenue Car Park (Perry Street), 
Northfleet 

4 

Camer Parade Car Park, Meopham 4 

The Bay Car Park, Vigo 6 

The Hill Car Park, Northfleet 2 

Osney Way Car Park, Gravesend 3 

Cygnet Leisure Centre Car Park, 
Northfleet 

4 

Total charge points in Kent600 
programme 

30 

 
 

  Sufficient electrical grid capacity within the borough has proved to be a recurring 
problem with the Distribution Network Operator (DNO), which has resulted in some 
sites being more viable than others and grid connection costs varying between the 
feasibility and ordering stages. 

Page 7



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

6

  The provision of a rapid EV charge point for use by taxi’s in the town centre has 
taken longer than expected due to cost and capacity issues with the DNO. We are 
now exploring an option in Parrock Street which we hope will be viable. 

  A bid is being made to National Highways as part of their Designated Funds, Lower 
Thames Crossing for additional EV charge points in North Kent. This funding could 
help deliver to locations that are otherwise not possible due to connection cost. A 
second taxi EV charge point has been included in this, for which the preferred 
location is Rathmore Road (at the railway station taxi rank). 

  It is recognised that what we are doing now is only a starting point, and as the 
adoption of EV’s increases the amount of charge points required will also need to 
scale up. We have therefore registered our interest in the LEVI fund so we can 
continue to attract funding. 

  The LEVI fund consists of a short pilot phase for three to eight local authorities to test 
the rollout of EV charging at scale, followed by the opening of the full fund for all local 
authorities. We will use the time during the pilot to plan how we can deliver additional 
charge points in the borough so we are in prime position once the full fund opens. 

  We took the opportunity during the LEVI fund consultation with the Energy Saving 
Trust to feed back our experiences with the DNO and how grid capacity needs to be 
improved for expansion of the national EV charging infrastructure at the scale 
required. 

  We have also encouraged Parish Councils to participate in EV charging funding 
opportunities, and Meopham Village Hall now has two EV charge points installed. 

 
 
The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) fielded questions from the Committee and 
highlighted the following: 
 

  Very few EV vehicles can take advantage of rapid charge at the moment. A large 
consumer demand will bring about a change in this area. Battery type is also a key 
factor in the speed of charging; a solid electrolyte battery will improve charge time 
without the risks of combustion. 

  The current EV charging provision in the Borough is not enough but it’s not just down 
to GBC to provide. The Council needs to work with the private sector to meet the 
demand.  

  The upkeep of EV charging points is of paramount importance and the Council has 
made sure whoever installs them also provides maintenance. 

  You do not have to pay for parking whilst are using the EV charge point in Parrock 
Street car park. 

  Gridserve is a company that is building Electric Forecourts to boost charging facilities 
in the UK. 

 
 
The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the contents of the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

7

 
13. UK Energy Security Strategy Update  
 
The Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) provided the Climate Change Advisory Board 
with an update on UK Energy Security Strategy and highlighted the following: 
 

 
  Immediate support on energy bills 

- The government acknowledges the pressures people are facing with the cost of 
living and hence announced a £9.1 billion package of support, including a £150 
energy rebate in April (for eligible households in Council Tax bands A-D), and a 
£200 energy bill discount in October to cut energy bills quickly for most 
households. 

- The Warm Home Discount will increase to £150 in October and extend its 
coverage to assist 3 million people. 

- £500 million investment in Household Support Fund for local authorities to use in 
supporting the most vulnerable with food and utility bills. 
 

  Energy efficiency 
- £450 million Boiler Upgrade Scheme to be launched this April. 
- Heat Pump Investment Accelerator Competition in 2022 worth up to £30 million to 

reduce demand for gas. 
- Over £6 billion of investment is planned to decarbonise the country’s homes and 

buildings and this would save the lowest income families around £300 a year on 
their bills. 

- By 2025, around 700,000 homes will be upgraded, and by 2050 all our buildings 
will be energy efficient with low carbon heating. 
 

  Solar and other technologies 
- The aim is to see the current solar capacity to grow up to 70GW by 2035. 
- Government to consult on amending planning rules to strengthen policy in favour 

of solar development. 
- VAT on solar panels for homes has been removed and working on low-cost 

finance options with retail lenders to help households install rooftop solar. 
- Design performance standards to further encourage renewables, including solar 

photovoltaic (PV) panels, in new homes and buildings. 
 

  Hydrogen 
- The UK government is doubling the ambition for low-carbon hydrogen production 

and is aiming to reach 10GW capacity by 2030, with at least 50% coming from 
electrolytic projects. 

- This fuel will not only provide cleaner energy for vital British industries to move 
away from fossil fuels, but will also be used for storage, trains, heavy equipment, 
and generating heat. 

- The UK government is also aiming to design new business models for hydrogen 
transport and storage infrastructure by 2025 to boost the hydrogen economy. 
 

  Networks, storage and flexibility 
- Anticipating need and hyper-flexibility are the 2 key features to be prioritized to 

reduce energy wastage which could help to bring down costs by up to £10 billion 
a year by 2050. 

Page 9



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

8

- UK to undertake a comprehensive Review of Electricity Market Arrangements 
(REMA) with high-level options for reform set out this summer to ensure fit for 
purpose retail market for all consumers to benefit. 

- Smartening up the system with more flexible pricing, through Time of Use tariffs 
and battery storage through electric vehicles. 

- Ensuring all new homes are designed so that smart meters can be fitted from the 
outset, in advance of the Future Homes and Building Standards by 2024. 

- of billions of private investments to support new industries that can generate 
hundreds of thousands of high-quality jobs, drive down bills and boost the 
economy across the United Kingdom. 

- This isn't just about getting to net-zero, as crucial as it is. It's a matter of national 
security. 

 
 
The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the contents of the report. 
 
 
  Climate Emergency UK Scorecard Assessment  
 
The Director (Corporate Services) informed Members of: -  
 

  the assessment of the council’s climate change plans, as conducted by Climate 
Emergency UK in September 2021. 

  the outcomes of self-assessment conducted by council officers in February 2022 
against the assessment criteria used by Climate Emergency UK. 

 
 
The Director (Corporate Services) highlighted the following: 
 

  In September 2021 Climate Emergency UK undertook, for the first time, an 
assessment of all UK councils’ written climate action plans and created Climate Plan 
Scorecards for each authority. The assessment was based on climate action plans 
that were published online before 20 September 2021 (and written after 2015) and 
was conducted by a team of over 120 volunteers, trained and overseen by Climate 
Emergency UK. 

 
  Climate Emergency UK are a not-for-profit campaigning organisation which exists to 

support local authorities in delivering on their climate ambitions by providing 
accessible information about best practice and providing a network where local 
authorities, activists, NGOs, business and local communities can work together. 
 

  More than one in five of the UK’s 409 local authorities have no published plan 
(84 in total) 

 
  Gravesham Borough Council achieved a total score of 54% (the average score was 

46%). Appendix One to the report provides further information on how this score was 
achieved over the nine assessment areas and also sets out the scores achieved by 
other Kent district and borough council’s alongside the highest scoring district council 
in the UK, Somerset West and Taunton Council. 
 

  To take into account the actions of the council since the assessment was 

Page 10



Climate Change Advisory Board 10.05.2022

9

conducted, a self-assessment against the criteria has been conducted and is 
attached at Appendix Two for information. As summarised below this indicates 
that, based on current arrangements, a score of 75% would currently be achieved 
by the council which would place it 6th in the county and the best performing 
council in Kent. Appendix Two also sets out action to further develop the council’s 
arrangements against the assessment criteria used for this assessment. 
These actions will be taken forward through the Climate Change Officer Group. 

 
 
 
 
Following questions from the Board; The Director (Corporate Services) highlighted the 
following: 
 
 

  The Council is part of the Kent & Medway Environment Group and its associated 
structure which allows us to collaborate and learn. The Carbon Literacy training has 
also provided the Council with key contacts in this field (e.g., the Climate Change 
Network) 

  Feedback has been provided to Climate Emergency UK.  GBC will continue to 
monitor and feed into the process in order to make sure it’s fair and equitable. 

 
 
The Climate Change Advisory Board noted the outcomes of self-assessment conducted by 
council officers in February 2022 against the assessment criteria used by Climate 
Emergency UK. 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 9.06 pm 
 

Section
Raw Score

Weighted 
Score

Raw Score
Weighted 

Score
Governance, Development and Funding 12 9% 18 13%
Mitigation and Adaptation 11 9% 11 9%
Commitment and Integration 5 11% 6 13%
Community, Engagement and Communications 5 8% 7 12%
Measuring and Setting Targets 2 4% 4 8%
Co-Benefits 4 5% 4 5%
Diversity and Inclusion 1 2% 3 6%
Education, Skills and Training 2 4% 3 6%
Ecological Emergency 2 3% 3 4%

TOTAL (out of a maximum of 79) 44 54% 59 75%

CEUK Score Self-Assessment Score

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 2 

 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Climate Change Advisory Board 

Date: 12th October 2022 

Reporting officer: Darren Everden, Assistant Director (IT and Transformation) 

Subject: Climate Change Delivery Plan and preparations for Annual Reporting 
 

Purpose and summary of the report: 

To present Members of the Climate Change Advisory Board with the Climate Change Delivery Plan for consideration and to set 

out preparation for the council’s third Annual Report. 

 

Recommendations: 

1. Members are asked to consider and provide comments on the Climate Change Delivery Plan at appendix two. 

2. Members are asked to support the approach set out in section three regarding the preparation of this year’s Climate  

Change Annual Report. 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 At the meeting of Full Council on 01 December 2021, the council adopted the Climate Change Strategy for the council 
for the period 2022-2030. 
 

1.2 As part of the Strategy, a high-level, strategic Delivery Plan was set out under three key workstreams: 
 
1.2.1 Gravesham Borough Council – the organisation 

Focusing on how the council can change its own operations and those of its employees, wherever possible to reduce 
the level of carbon emissions it produces.  
 

1.2.2 Gravesham Borough Council – the housing provider 
Exploring opportunities to bring the council’s current housing stock up to a better level of energy efficiency standard 
where it is possible to do so; ensuring new council housing is built to a high level of sustainability and ensuring local 
planning policy reflects the need for the borough to consider energy efficiency in all developments moving forward. 
 

1.2.3 Gravesham Borough Council – the community leader 
It is clear that the council cannot directly affect all of the changes that are needed across the borough. However, in its 
role as a community leader, it can work with residents, community groups and partners to educate and support them in 
making changes which will have a positive impact on the level of carbon emissions in the borough. 

 

2. Climate Change Delivery Plan 

2.1 The Climate Change Delivery Plan is shown at appendix two. This provides specific actions, along with an indication of 

resource implication and timeframe setting out how the council will work towards its climate change ambitions, as per the 

approved Climate Change Strategy. 

2.2 The Delivery Plan will form the basis of future annual reports. 

2.3 The Climate Change Advisory Board are asked to provide their thoughts and comments on the Delivery Plan. 

 

3. Preparation for the Climate Change Annual Report 

3.1  In December 2020, the council published its first annual report, reflecting the activities of the council in working towards the 

council’s Climate Change pledge. 

3.2  It is suggested that this year’s annual report follow a similar approach as follows: 

3.2.1 Borough and Council Emissions Baseline for year 2021-22 

An update against the emission levels across the borough from the period (April 21 to March 2022)  

 

      3.2.2 Carbon Reduction Actions during 2022 

                  An overview of the proactive work that has been undertaken by the council over the past 12 months  

                  since December 2021. 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 2 

 

       3.2.3 Areas of Focus for 2023 

               To work on the existing projects and bring them to speed/closure where possible. 

 
        3.2.4 Future Projects 

    An update on the future projects and/or initiatives that will help the borough to achieve its goal of  

    becoming a net zero borough by 2030. 

 

 

4. Background Papers 

Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Director (Corporate Services). Anyone wishing to inspect background 
papers should, in the first place, liaise with the Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements. 

 

Lead Officer: Saida Shaikh, Climate Action Delivery Manager 

Email: saida.shaikh@gravesham.gov.uk 

 

Implications           APPENDIX 1 

Legal The Council is committed to work towards achieving the overall Government carbon 
reduction targets set out in the Climate Change Act 2008. 

Finance and Value for Money A specific Climate Change Reserve has been established to provide seed funding 
of activities relating to the council’s Climate Change agenda. The reserve was 
established with a budget of £500k. Climate Change activity will be funded from 
existing revenue and capital budgets, with external grant funding and support 
sought as it becomes available. 
 

Risk Assessment There are no specific risks associated with the detail contained within the draft 
Climate Change Strategy. It will be necessary however, for both officers and 
Members to consider any risks that may be associated with proposed climate 
change actions to ensure these are fully considered prior to implementation. 
 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of any major project 
involving the use of personal data or if you are making a significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the processing of personal 
data or special category data or criminal offense data?  

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data Protection Officer 
advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or the Information 
Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact Assessment a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have the potential to cause 
adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the community? If yes, please explain the 
answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a positive contribution to 
promoting equality? If yes, please explain the answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have given due regard to the 
equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the table above 

Corporate Plan Within the Corporate Plan, there is a specific commitment within objective #1 - 
People, relating to carbon reduction: 
- Carbon Neutral Borough: in declaring a climate emergency, begin to take action 
to prepare Gravesham to become carbon neutral by 2030. 
The actions that are being taken, however, cut across all of the council services and as such, support 
the delivery of all corporate plan objectives. 

Climate Change The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an update on actions taken within the Climate 
Delivery Plan in order for the Council to meet its climate change commitments. 

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report. 

Digital and website implications There will be a requirement for the Climate Change Strategy to be 
updated on the council's website if there is any change. GHG emissions and annual reports are to be 
updated annually on the website. 

Safeguarding children and vulnerable 
adults 

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults’ implications resulting 
from this report. 

 

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Page 1 of 5 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

 

Climate Change Management Delivery Plan 
 

Priority 1: GBC – the organisation 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

1.1 Educate all council Members and officers on Climate Change so that they are able to have an awareness of the carbon dioxide costs and impacts of everyday activities, and the ability and motivation to 
reduce emissions, on an individual, community and organisational basis.   Create opportunities and engagement activities to enable them to be actively involved in the council’s activity around Climate 
Change and become advocates for Climate Change in all council, business, and community operations. 

 1.1.1 Plan facilitation and delivery of the training 
toolkits provided by the Carbon Literacy 
Project for the target audiences (officers and 
members) and finalise rollout plan.  

No. officers 
trained - 2 

 

No. Members 
trained - 0 

Assistant Director (IT & 
Transformation) 

Q4 2021/22  

 

 

Planning and facilitation of Carbon Literacy Training is 
underway with courses attended by the wider management 
team and senior officers in July. Further training is being 
organised for those that could not attend, with consideration 
also being given to the new member induction programme. 

 1.1.2 Delivery of Carbon Literacy training for officers 
and members as per rollout plan  

Assistant Director (IT & 
Transformation) 

Q1 + Q2 
2022/23  

 

 

34 delegates attended the Carbon Literacy training and are 
working on their pledges to get certified. 

Officers trained – 43 

Officers certified - 22 

 1.1.3 Conduct pre and post-course evaluation survey 
with all participants 

Assistant Director (IT & 
Transformation) 

Q1 + Q2 
2022/23  

 

 

Feedback has been captured from course participants. 
Results show that the course is having a positive impact. 

 1.1.4 Become a Carbon Literate Organisation (as 
defined by the Carbon Literacy Project), 
achieving Bronze status by August 2022, and 
develop plans to achieve Silver status by 
September 2022 

This is a new 
action with no 
existing 
baseline 

Assistant Director (IT & 
Transformation) 

Q2 2022/23 

 

 

 

Information is currently being obtained to confirm the 
requirements for achieving Bronze status and Silver status. 
Once confirmed, activity will commence towards securing 
Bronze status as a first stage. 

1.2 Progress plans to replace the existing Civic Centre, The Woodville, Cascades Leisure Centre, and Cygnet Leisure Centre (the largest energy-using operational assets of the council) by 2026 with new 
energy-efficient buildings, targeting the achievement of net zero standards.  Ensure that steps are taken to ensure that the embodied carbon of a new building is considered in design and construction. 

 1.2.1 St Georges Phase II Project – seeks to identify 
and implement a viable scheme that will provide 
for a new, carbon-efficient Civic Centre and 
theatre facility. 

Gas: 
317.08 tCO2e 

Electricity: 
186.78 tCO2e 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Strategic 
Regeneration) 

Winter 2026 

(subject to viable 
scheme coming 
forward) 

 

 

Outline project proposal has been worked up and this has 
formed the basis of a Leveling Up Fund bid for £20m relating 
to the civic aspects of St Georges Square (Formally St 
Georges Phase II). The council is currently awaiting the 
announcement of the bid outcome from the Central 
Government to know if the project can proceed. 

 

 1.2.2 Cascades Leisure Centre – progress the project 
to bring forward a new leisure facility at the 
existing site. 

Gas: 
184.83 tCO2e 

Electricity: 
70.57 tCO2e 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Strategic 
Regeneration) 

Winter 2023 

(subject to viable 
scheme coming 
forward) 

 

 

RIBA Stage 1 Completed and preferred scheme option 
agreed which will focus on the delivery of a sustainable 
center, targeting Passivhaus principles. An updated report will 
be presented to Cabinet in the next few months. 

P
age 15



Page 2 of 5 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 1.2.3 Ebbsfleet Landmark Leisure Facility – continue 
to work with the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation to bring forward leisure facilities in 
the west of the borough. 

Gas: 
348.37 tCO2e 

Electricity: 
107.57 tCO2e 

 

ESTIMATE 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Strategic 
Regeneration) 

Timeframe 
dependent on 
EDC confirming 
proposals.  

 

Council Officers met with representatives from the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation (EDC) in September, which 
confirmed ongoing challenges being experienced by the EDC 
in bringing the project forward due to a lack of clarity around 
funding.  Agreed for an ongoing dialogue to be maintained. 

1.3 Develop and implement a programme of targeted carbon reduction projects on the remaining operational assets held by the council, focusing on the energy source, energy use reduction, and ‘fabric-first’ 
measures. 

 1.3.1 Brookvale Depot – develop plans for the site, 
considering service requirements and options 
for retrofitting and/or redevelopment to improve 
building efficiency. 

Gas: 
33.46 tCO2e 

Electricity: 
25.40 tCO2e 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

Director (Environment 
and Operations) 

Q1 to Q3 
2022/23 

 

 

Operational needs are being mapped to confirm future 
intended uses of the site, which will inform the decision 
preferred option for the site.  A site Survey has been 
completed to identify retrofit options should this be the 
council’s preferred route of action. The final report is awaited. 

 

 1.3.2 Undertake surveys of council-owned properties 
in order to identify works required to improve 
energy efficiency and develop a programme of 
proposed works, prioritising the largest emitting 
assets 

Gas: 
375.31 tCO2e 

Electricity: 
136.75 tCO2e 

 

Building and Facilities 
Manager 

Q1 to Q3 
2022/23 

 

 

Surveys have now been completed for six of the council’s 
assets and final reports received. 

 1.3.3 Explore funding opportunities (Government 
grants, loans, etc.) to progress required works. 

N/A - funding 
availability may 
affect works 
completed 

 

Building and Facilities 
Manager 

Funding Officer 

Ongoing 

 

 

Based on the surveys completed at 1.3.2 above, work is now 
currently underway to develop a Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme funding bid application for three 
sites eligible for the scheme. 

1.4 Seek to secure an alternative energy supply through the procurement of renewable energy when the current supply contract ends in 2024. 

 1.4.1 Commence tender exercise for the procurement 
of renewable energy for council use. 

Existing 
contract does 
include 
element of 
renewable 
energy 

 

Building and Facilities 
Manager 

Q4 2022/23 

 

 

Work is commencing to consider future provision of energy 
for the council.  LASER will shortly be entering into the award 
and associated standstill period for the Flexible gas & 
electricity procurement frameworks for the supply period 
October 2024 to September 2028. They will be producing 
Information Packs on the new frameworks to assist with 
internal decision making and sign up process.  At the same 
time the council will be identifying other suppliers in the 
market. 

 1.4.2 Switch to a new energy supplier. Look to 
increase this 
element at the 
next renewal 

 

Building and Facilities 
Manager 

October 2024 

 

 

This action will follow on from 1.4.1 above. 

P
age 16



Page 3 of 5 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

1.5 Design and implement a fleet replacement programme intended to deliver decarbonisation of the fleet by 2030, focusing on small and medium-size petrol and diesel vehicles from 2022. 

 1.5.1 Work with the Energy Saving Trust (EST) to 
undertake a review of the vehicle fleet and 
identify opportunities to reduce the impact on 
the environment 

390.63 tCO2e 

(Operational 
Fleet vehicles 
only) 

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Q2 to 
Q4 2021/22   

 

 

 

Completed  

 1.5.2 Commence a fleet replacement programme, 
focusing on the decarbonisation of smaller fleet 
vehicles. 

Current level of 
alternatively 
fuelled 
vehicles - 0 

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Q1 2022/23 

 

 

All the operational hire panel vans have been replaced with 
EV equivalents which are 10 vans. 

Orders have been placed for 3 x small panel vans, 3 x 
medium panel vans, and 2 small caged vehicles.  The new 
vehicles will be used within the Housing, Cemeteries, and 
Street Cleansing Services. 

A new 10-year vehicle replacement plan is being finalised 
which will detail how all vans will be replaced by 2030 to meet 
the Council’s Net Zero ambitions 

The replacement of larger vehicles is being researched 
however there is no agreed solution across the industry.   

The workshop technicians have started their EV charging 
maintenance training. 

 

 1.5.3 Linked to 1.3.1. above, finalise plans to deliver 
fleet vehicle charging infrastructure at the 
Brookvale Depot. 

Current level of 
charging 
points at the 
depot - 0 

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Q1 to Q3 
2022/23   

 

Investigations have commenced to develop a proposal to 
install 20 EV chargers in the depot.  Two temporary chargers 
have already been installed in the depot so the electric hire 
vans can be charged safely. 

1.6 Continue to identify and implement opportunities to improve the efficiency of journeys completed by fleet vehicles. 

 1.6.1 Continuing to make use of the routeing software 
to ensure fleet vehicles minimise journey times 
where possible. 

390.63 tCO2e 

(Operational 
Fleet vehicles 
only) 

Mileage to be 
added 

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Commence April 
2022 and then 
ongoing 

 

 

The council continues to make use of a number of software 
applications to ensure fleet vehicles are using the most direct 
route to their next job (ie Oneserve and Bartec).  New 
software applications are currently being trailed or installed 
within the Street Cleansing such as bin sensors to ensure 
jobs are only carried out when required. 

 1.6.2 Continue to develop a driver training 
programme to ensure all drivers of GBC fleet 
vehicles know how to make the cost-efficient 
use of the vehicles available to them, 
particularly as new vehicles are brought online. 

Current level of 
training  

Waste and Transport 
Manager 

Training has 
already taken 
place and will 
continue in future 
years.  

 

Basic training has been delivered to staff.  A more robust 
programme of training is being explored. 

The programme of HGV driver assessment which includes 
fuel-efficient driving has been completed. 

 

 

 

P
age 17



Page 4 of 5 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

1.7 Develop a Sustainable Travel Policy to reduce the level and impact of business travel. Develop policies and initiatives to encourage active travel by Members and officers. 

 1.7.1 Complete research into alternative travel 
arrangements for staff including different cycle 
to work and cycle hire scheme options as well 
as potential car sharing arrangements.  

Previous cycle-
to-work 
programme in 
2015 resulted 
in 21 orders 
being placed 
for bicycles 

HR Consultant Q1/Q2 - 2022  

 

 

The research into the different cycle-to-work scheme options 
has progressed substantially. Business development 
meetings have been held with 3 leading potential cycle-to-
work scheme providers. The market research and information 
resulting from those business development meetings and 
wider research will be collated and presented for decision to 
the council’s Management Team shortly.   

 1.7.2 Publicise the Employer Travel Club which seeks 
to encourage people to utilise public transport 
and offers staff savings on local Arriva bus 
travel. 

1 person has 
utilised the 
scheme since 
its introduction 

HR Consultant Q1-2022  

 

 

Contact has been made with Arriva, who have confirmed 
limited uptake of the scheme.  As a result a business 
development meeting was held with Arriva to discuss new 
ways in which the Employer Travel Club can be promoted 
and publicised to staff to increase engagement levels and 
also to discuss other travel benefits that Arriva could offer to 
Gravesham Borough Council. 

As a result of this meeting, Arriva has offered to produce 
updated marketing material tailored for council employees to 
enable the scheme to be promoted and publicised again. In 
addition, other travel benefits and initiatives have been 
offered by Arriva for the council to consider, and consideration 
of these wider initiatives is currently ongoing. 

 1.7.3 Develop and publicise a Hybrid Working Policy  Statistics on 
the number of 
formal remote 
working 
employees 
prior to 
introduction of 
hybrid working 
are being 
calculated, as 
are statistics 
on the number 
of employees 
working on a 
hybrid working 
basis since the 
permanent 
implementation 
of the Hybrid 
Working Policy 

HR Business Partner 

HR Consultant 

Currently 
undergoing a trial 
period prior to full 
implementation 

 

 

Completed. 

P
age 18



Page 5 of 5 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 1.7.4 Embark on a programme of culture/behaviour 
change training and communication to 
encourage people to move to alternative travel 
and working arrangements. 

This is a new 
action with no 
existing 
baseline 

HR Business Partner 

HR Consultant 

Communications 
Manager 

Q3 – 2022  

Following 
completion of the 
above actions 

 

 

This work will largely be undertaken once the alternative 
travel options have been readvertised and implemented. The 
reason for this is that the engagement and utilization of the 
different alternative travel options will need to be gauged in 
the first instance before any further work is undertaken in this 
area.  

  

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 1 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

Climate Change 

- Management Delivery Plan 
 

Priority 2: GBC – the housing provider 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

2.1 Implement a GBC resident engagement strategy around Climate Change. Work with partners to promote climate change key messages and activities to all council housing tenants as a means to support 
them in adjusting behaviours and deliver their own climate change action agendas.  

 2.1.1 Create and implement a resident strategy in 
relation to energy improvement works to ensure 
access and buy in.  

Currently no 
engagement 
strategy for 
energy retrofit 
works 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023  

 

 

The strategy is now in use alongside our current retrofit 
programmes and has resulted in an increase in resident 
engagement and property access, with 180 properties 
accessed to date through the Social Housing Decarbonisation 
Fund scheme.  

 2.1.2 Create ‘Staff Energy Champions’ to assist 
residents and other staff members with energy 
saving advice  

Previously only 
2 staff members 
had undertaken 
this training 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023  

   

 

The ‘Train the Trainer’ session has now been completed.  
This will allow the 5 ‘super trainers’ to deliver this training to 
other Housing staff, which is in the process of being 
arranged.  

 2.1.3 Encourage residents to purchase high rated 
A+++ energy efficient appliances  

No previous 
communication 
with tenants 
had been 
undertaken 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1-2022/2023  

 

 

Information on this initiative has been included in Your Home 
publication. This information has also been included in the 
energy advice document produced in conjunction with the 
Energy Saving Trust.  

Action will be taken to continue to review opportunities to 
promote this. 

 2.1.4 Provide energy saving information at sign-up to 
new tenants  

Not previously 
provided on 
sign up of new 
tenancies 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-2022/2023  

 

 

Energy Saving Trust have been engaged to assist with 
content. The content has now been finalised and the 
Communications Team has now formatted the document 
ready to be distributed to new residents.  

Opportunities will also be explored to distribute this document 
on a large scale to existing residents. 

 

 2.1.5 Tenant awareness around saving energy and 
reducing carbon emissions. Having an ‘Estate 
Energy Champion’ per estate to increase 
resident awareness  

Energy 
Champion 
scheme did not 
previously exist 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2-2022/2023  

   

 

A second awareness session is currently being arranged with 
the Tenant Participation Advisory Service. 

 2.1.6 Undertake research into the potential link 
between poor energy performance, voids and 
rent arrears.  

No research 
has been 
previously 
undertaken 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1-2022/2023  

 

 

The officer who has been leading on this data study has been 
working on the implementation of the new housing system so 
the completion of this action has been delayed. This work will 
commence at the end of Q2 into Q3. 

 

P
age 21



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 2 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

 2.1.7 Share best practice, lessons learned and case 
studies through Kent Housing Group, BEIS, 
LinkedIn, Private Landlord Forum  

Sharing of best 
practice in 
regard to 
housing has 
always been 
shared however 
not focused 
around net 
zero. 

 

All Senior Managers 
within Housing 
Services  

Q3 2021/2022 
onwards  

 

 

This is a regular topic of discussion at Kent Housing Group 
and joint projects are currently being explored. We have 
formed a working relationship with West Kent Housing 
Association to share advice and exlpore joint ventures for 
bids & works.  

We have also been working alongside other Kent council’s 
including Medway Council and Thanet District Council who 
have been interested in our GSHP project at Merston Court 
and we have been sharing our experiences and lessons 
learnt so far.  

The Project Surveyor (Energy & Sustainability) has also 
previously been a speaker at London Climate Action Week 
attended by various local authorities from the country, sharing 
the Council’s experience of deivering the first GSHP in Kent. 
They are also due to speak at South East Retrofit Summit. 

The Housing Operations team have also been working 
closely with the Private Housing team on how they can 
promote sustainable heating to private landlords in the 
borough. 

2.2 Ensure all investment decisions regarding the council’s housing stock are made with consideration to the impact of climate change. Develop and deliver a programme of investment to reduce carbon 
emissions and improve the energy rating of the housing stock. 

 2.2.1 Review all future planned work programmes to 
ensure a ‘No regrets’ approach and that any 
work is coordinated where possible with any 
saving energy saving measures. 

Baseline based 
upon current 
levels of EPC 
ratings of GBC 
Housing Stock: 

A Grade – 36 

B Grade – 500 

C Grade - 3027 

D Grade - 1947 

E Grade – 123 

F Grade – 4 

G Grade - 1 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-4 2021/2022  

  

 

A large update in data due to the completion of around 300 
Energy Peformance Certificates has allowed us to determine 
our priorities to form next year’s programme of works. 

 

 2.2.2 Create an asset management strategy 
consisting of an Asset Grading Module.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-4 2021/2022  
 

 

The Asset Grading module has been completed and the draft 
strategy received. 

 2.2.3 Create a programme to tackle the homes that 
lack loft or cavity wall insulation.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-4 2021/2022 
and ongoing   

 

 

The Local Authority Delivery (LAD) 2 scheme is due to finish 
at the end of the month and work is ongoing to ensure that as 
many properties as possible that qualify for the funding 
receive installations before the cut off date. 

The Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) scheme is 
progressing well with 175 properties surveyed and 100 
properties receiving insulation since June.  

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) scheme has been 
slow to start across the sector but we are continuing to work 
with the Warm Front Team to explore and where possible 
access this funding. 

 

P
age 22



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 3 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

 2.2.4 Create a programme of properties and blocks 
for retrofitting taking a ‘fabric first’ approach 
based on data from Parity system.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-4 2021/2022 
and ongoing   

 

 

Completed for 2022/2023 work programme and successfully 
applied for Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF), 
confirmation of award in Feb 2022 for £800k funding. 
Following financial years are currently in progress. 

Heat Pump Ready Programme – The council was successful 
in its funding bid to deliver the whole house retrofit scheme, 
Energiesprong, to 10 non-traditional constructed homes. 
Designs and feasability studies are to commence towards the 
end of 2022. 

The team are currently progressing an application for Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund Wave 2 which will tackle a 
mixture of measures including double glazed windows, cavity 
wall insulation, loft insulation and heat pumps. 

 2.2.5 Switching to PIR sensored lights in blocks and 
sheltered schemes to prevent lights being left 
on all night and day  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-4 2021/2022 
and ongoing    

 

Implementation has commenced of the LED communal 
lighting programme.  Good feedback is being received by 
residents. 

 2.2.6 Creation of a replacement programme of GBC 
owned internal and external communal and 
street lighting on the estates with LED upgrades 
to expand on existing works.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q3-4 2021/2022 
and ongoing    

 

A long term programme of works has been identified. For this 
financial year,  installation of LED lighting in 8 blocks, which 
equates to 413 new LED fittings, has been successfully 
completed.  

 2.2.7 Carry out a review of the planned works 
programmes to see if any improvements and 
changes can be made such as triple glazing, 
use of recycled materials, installation of green 
roofs.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022 and 
then ongoing  

 

 

 

The council has switched its paint supply to Paint360 who re-
engineer waste paint and bring back to new. Each litre of 
paint contains a minimum of 65% recycled content. 1 litre 
saves enough embedded carbon to drive a transit van 5 miles 
carbon free (independently verified). 

Triple glazing has currently been ruled out due to cost vs 
benefit. 

The council is currently in the process of reprocuring a 
number of planned works programmes and as part of this will 
look at more sustainable materials. 

 2.2.8 Explore water saving initiatives such as 
installing water efficient shower heads, tap 
aerators, dual flush toilets, waste water heat 
recovery and providing water butts.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022 and 
then ongoing  

 

 

The council is currently currently in discussions with water 
consultants about how to reduce water consumption in our 
properties. 

 

 2.2.9 Gas boilers – retrofit installation of flue gas heat 
recovery systems (FGHRS) to new gas boilers 
as a short term measure  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023 
 

 

The council are continuing to installs Flue Gas Heat Recovery 
Systems (FGHRS) alongside new boiler installations. 

 2.2.10 Review of the void property lettable standard to 
include air tightness, draft reduction and 
adequate ventilation  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023 
and then ongoing  

 

Work has commenced on this following receipt of the draft 
Asset Strategy. 

P
age 23



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 4 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

 2.2.11 Carry out EPCs following the completion of 
planned works  

Baseline based 
upon current 
levels of EPC 
ratings of GBC 
Housing Stock: 

A Grade – 36 

B Grade – 500 

C Grade - 3027 

D Grade - 1947 

E Grade – 123 

F Grade – 4 

G Grade - 1 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

Three members of staff have now completed the necessary 
qualification and have undertaken EPCs in-house from Apr 
2022. The Projects Surveyor and Apprentice Projects 
Surveyor have also sucessfuly completed the PAS2035 
Retrofit Assessor course. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2.2.12 Carry out a review of the heating system 
installation programme and put a robust plan in 
place to switch from gas to an alternative heat 
source and review blocks for the potential of 
installing heat networks.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

The installation of the council’s first Ground Source Heat 
Pump (GSHP) heating system has now been completed at 
one of our independent living schemes, Merston Court and 
54-62 Hermitage Road in Higham. Hermitage Road is 
expected to see a saving of 24 tonnes of carbon over 20 
years, while at Merston Court the figure is 13.67 tonnes over 
the same period. 

A second Independent Living block has been identified gor 
GSHP with the design currently being finalised before we 
confirm to the residents. 

Gas boiler installation programmed scaled back for 2022/23 
and subsequent years to be reviewed annually. Ground 
Source Heat Pumps (GSHP) programmed for Sheltered 
Schemes 2022/23.  

Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) installed in off-gas properties 
and performance measured before roll-out on large scale. 3 
ASHP’s have been installed to date with 10 more due to be 
installed as part of the Council’s Heat Pump Ready Funding. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 24



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 5 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

2.3 Ensure that all projects to deliver new council-owned housing target the achievement of net zero standards and include provision for electric vehicle charging. 

 2.3.1 The council will take a ‘no regrets’ approach to 
installing renewable energy, power and heat to 
ensure that new developments are future 
proofed with limited potential for further 
adjustments.  

New 
developments 
dealt with in 
isolation with 
separate 
Employers 
Requirements, 
(ER’s). ER’s 
currently 
require that 
thermal U 
values of 
external walls, 
glazing and 
roofs exceed 
existing 
Building Regs 
standards, 
(minimum 30% 
over Part L)  

Housing Development 
& Strategy Manager 

Q1 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

The St Columbas 46 unit redevelopment scheme is likely to 
be the first newbuild to have ground source heat pumps.  

The scheme will meet the new Part L and O Building 
Regulations and Part S. Ongoing discussions are taking 
place with consultants about the properties being ‘net zero 
ready’ for example roof made ready for PV. Inflationary costs 
in the building industry are, however, hampering some 
ambitions for new build.  

 2.3.2 The council will also ensure that the level of 
energy, heating and power in new council 
homes is in line with government standards 
such as the Future Homes Standard.    

New 
developments 
dealt with in 
isolation with 
separate ER’s. 
Solar panels 
not currently 
installed in new 
developments 
and have been 
installing gas 
boilers to date. 

Housing Development 
& Strategy Manager 

Q1 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

The council is exploring Part L plus as energy efficiency 
standard on future developments. ‘Futureproofing’ to net zero 
including ability to install solar panels. 

Air source heat pumps are the current preferred method of 
heating and power in new build and will be specified in future 
employers requirements. 

Use of GSHP and developing ‘Part L Plus’ and ‘Net Zero 
Ready’. 

 2.3.3 Making allowance within the council’s 
development standards and requirements that 
EV charging is included when identifying areas 
and preparing proposals for new council 
homes.  

Currently 
working to 
Planning 
requirements 
that 20% of 
new 
development is 
futureproofed 
with cabling for 
EV charging 
points. 

Housing Development 
& Strategy Manager 

Q1 2023/2024 
and then ongoing 

 

 

Proposals are to deliver 1-on-1 EV chargers per property for 
new developments in line with Part S.  

P
age 25



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 6 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

 2.3.4 Provide clear guidance and information to 
tenants who are looking to install EV charging 
points at the property (non-estate)  

Guidance was 
previously not 
provided to 
tenants 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

 Q1 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

The team is currently working with our contractor Carbon 3 to 
produce this information. 

 

 

2.4 Seek to secure an alternative energy supply through the procurement of renewable energy when the current supply contract for communal and other council-managed housing assets in 2024.   

 2.4.1 Review current energy tariffs for provision of 
energy in communal and council managed 
housing assets, with a view to moving to green 
energy providers it is feasible to do so. 

 

National 
average of 
renewables 
provided to the 
grid – 
according to 
BEIS statistics 
is 43.1% 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023 

 

 

LASER will shortly be entering into the award and associated 
standstill period for the Flexible gas & electricity procurement 
frameworks for the supply period October 2024 to September 
2028. They will be producing Information Packs on the new 
frameworks to assist with internal decision making and sign 
up process. 

2.5 Explore alternative energy solutions for communal areas and council housing tenants, looking to encourage use of green energy companies wherever possible. 

 2.5.1 Encourage the use of green energy companies 
in publications and explore with current provider 
to see if a discounted service could be offered 
to residents.  

 

No previous 
communication 
with tenants 
had been 
undertaken 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

Mention has been made to green tariffs in the energy advice 
document that has been produced by EST and will be shared 
with residents shortly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 2.5.2 Ensure that all energy tariffs are ‘green’ tariffs 
that are used to power the communal areas  

No blocks are 
currently on 
green tariffs 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2023/2024 
and then ongoing 

 

 

To follow on from above – 2.5.1 

 

 

 

 2.5.3 Explore options to install Solar PV panels to 
power the communal electricity in communal 
areas of blocks and schemes and potentially for 
the power to flats also.  

Currently 0 
installations 
specifically to 
power 
communal 
areas. 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2022/2023  

 

 

All high rise blocks have been surveyed and designs 
finalised. 

The installation of the Solar PV at Carl Ekman House has 
now been completed and since being commisioned on 13th 
July it has generated 3.97 MWh which based on the the kWh 
charge of £0.52, this has generated £2,064.40 of electric. 

The installation of Solar PV at Chantry Court which will supply 
the communal electricity requirements has commenced. 

 

P
age 26



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 7 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

2.6 Develop and deliver a programme of investment in EV charging points in existing housing estates.   

 2.6.1 Create a long-term programme to introduce EV 
charging on existing council estates where 
feasible and appropriate.  

Currently no EV 
charging on 
housing estates 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2023/2024  

 

 

Work with Corporate Services has helped them identify 
potential non-block housing sites for EV charging.  

The installation of EV charging at Carl Ekman House and 
Bishops Court has now been completed, which will provide 2 
charge points at each site for residents and the council’s fleet.  

The intention will be to provide EV charge points alongside 
council Solar PV installs where possible.  

The Housing Operations team will also be installing EV 
charge points at the new Valley Drive development once the 
scheme has been handed over by the Housing Development 
& Strategy team.  

 2.6.2 Encourage residents to consider alternatively 
powered vehicles through publications such as 
the monthly housing newsletters energy saving 
advice leaflets.  

 

No previous 
communication 
with tenants 
had been 
undertaken 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2023/2024  

 

 

 

To commence in Q2 2023/24.  

 

 

 

 

2.7 Work with council tenants to promote a better understanding of the benefits of alternatively-powered vehicles and active travel options. 

 2.7.1 Ensure cycle stores are allowed for in the 
design of new developments where appropriate 
and create a programme for the installation of 
cycle storage on existing estates where feasible 
to encourage residents to cycle as an 
alternative method of travel.  

Four most 
recent new 
developments 
provided with 
cycle storage in 
line with 
Planning 
requirements. 
Older housing 
stock does not 
have any cycle 
storage.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

New Homes 
Development & 
Strategy Manager 

New builds – 
commence 2021-
22 and then 
ongoing 

Existing sites – 
commence Q1 
2022/2023 and 
then ongoing  

 

 

(Capital Budget) 

Cycle storage guidance provided by KCC is 1 space per flat 
or maisonette and one per bedroom space per house. 

Work has commenced in regards to identifying suitable 
existing sites.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2.7.2 Continue to deliver sustainable travel behaviour 
change messaging through online digital 
content and targeted engagement opportunities 

  

No previous 
communication 
with tenants 
had been 
undertaken 

All Senior Managers 
within Housing 
Services  

Q2 2022/2023 
and then ongoing 

 

 

Informartion is included as part of the energy saving advice 
document and also the Council’s ‘Your Home’ publication. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 27



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 8 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

2.8 Reduce the amount of waste generated by the service and tenants that is sent to landfill with the intention to increase recycling rates.  

 2.8.1 Set waste reduction and recycling targets for 
building and refurbishment waste including 
making amendments to new contracts to outline 
requirements.  

No current 
targets 

 

 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2023/2024  

 

 

To commence Q1 2023/24. 

 

 2.8.2 Carry out a review of communal waste and 
recycling facilities across all council owned 
estates and identify a programme of 
improvements such as de-commissioning 
rubbish chutes/ hoppers.  Undertake resident 
survey per site for a greater understanding as to 
how easy it is for them to recycle  

5 sites have 
currently had 
waste 
improvement 
works carried 
out 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023  

 

 

 

(Capital Budget) 

The review has begun on all of the estates to identify where 
improvement to waste and recycling facilities is needed. From 
this execise, a programme of improvement works will be 
created.  

The installation of the new bin storage at Pickwick House has 
been completed. Blocks for 22/23 are in the process of being 
identified.  

 

 2.8.3 Creating an affordable recycled furniture and 
household items project for residents to 
donate.  

No previous 
scheme existed 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2023/2024  

  
 

 

To commence Q1 2023/24. 

 2.8.4 Estate skip initiative - providing skips for 
residents to dispose correctly of items.  

No previous 
scheme existed 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2023/2024  

  
 

 

To commence Q2 2023/24. 

 2.8.5 Mulching and composting 95% of in-house 
green waste  

23 tonnes have 
been recycled 
in 2021/22. 15 
tonnes used for 
biofuel, 8 
tonnes for 
green land fill 
for general 
composting.  

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q1 2023/2024  

  

 

 

To commence Q1 2023/24. 

2.9 Ensure the principles of green infrastructure are incorporated into new council housing developments and major works to the existing estate.  

 2.9.1 Develop and implement a Tree and Biodiversity 
Strategy  

No strategy 
currently exists 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023  

 

 

The development of the Tree and Biodiversity strategy is in 

progress currently with the plan being that it will utilise 

information from several high-level strategic surveys that 

have been commissioned (Blue and Green Infrastructure 

Planning), together with the general planning of the Lower 

Thames Cross, and Kent County Council initiatives. These 

will be brought together with the corporate plan to set the 

vision for these strategies. 

P
age 28



 _______________________________________________  ______________________________________________              Page 9 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer Updates 

 2.9.2 Identify opportunities to ‘green’ the Council’s 
property estate, looking to find appropriate sites 
to deploy green infrastructure  

No previously 
ground 
maintenance 
projects 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023  

 
 

 

(Capital Budget) 

Horticulture has been working with Gravesham planning and 

property to identify, as well as consulting with landscape 

designers to include appropriate methodologies and schemes 

that will fit in those locations. Work is in progress at the 

moment and at the design phase for most of the projects i.e. 

Constable Road, Medhurst Gardens, St Columbas, St 

Patricks Gardens, Valley Drive, and Worchester Road. 

 2.9.3 Undertake a series of green infrastructure pilot 
programmes in the borough to demonstrate the 
positive impact that greening has for urban 
landscapes  

No previous 
pilot 
programmes 

 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023  

 

 

 

(Capital Budget) 

Prioritising on sharing an identity for each of the parks and 

open spaces within the borough (Heritage, Leisure, or 

Biodiversity), to communicate the future of these green 

spaces to promote a defined messaging that GBC will be able 

to design a landscape around, including wildflowers, 

perennial flowerbeds, tree planting, natural boundary creation 

and specific walkways through the spaces. 

The distinct labelling of each area will also help with 

community engagement to include outside organisations to 

assist in the development and maintenance to elevate the 

strain and pressure on the council and the Parks & Open 

Spaces department. 

 2.9.4 Work with Trees for Cities to identify suitable 
locations on Council owned land to deliver a 
carbon offsetting programme to support the 
delivery of net zero carbon targets on our 
estates  

No previous 
programme 

 

Service Manager 
(Housing Operations) 

Q2 2022/2023  

  

 

 

The Parks & Open Spaces team have been investigating the 

Defra-approved charities to ensure that they will be able to 

assist in not only the sourcing of the ‘Right Tree’ but also 

working in conjunction with the above infrastructure and 

identity plans to ensure it is the ‘Right Location’ is chosen with 

the ‘Right Maintenance’. Conversation and surveying of the 

council land have started with these representatives but a 

formalised plan is yet to be completed and shared with 

management to support the council’s target for net zero 

neutrality. 

 

 2.9.5 Ensure that included within 
the employment requirements for new build 
council homes that renewable energy, 
combined heat and power from sustainable 
sources, and local heat networks are included 
in the design where appropriate and practical.  

New 
developments 
were dealt with 
in isolation and 
change in 
requirements 
have required 
further 
adjustments 

New Homes 
Development & 
Strategy Manager  

Q2 2022/2023 
and then ongoing  

 

 

(Capital Budget) 

To commence imminently.         

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

Climate Change Management Delivery Plan 
 

Priority 3: GBC – the community leader 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

3.1 Implement an overarching Communications Strategy to clearly articulate how the council will seek to engage with residents, businesses, partners, and communities to encourage and support climate change 
action across the borough.  Linking in with national and local initiatives, develop a programme of activities targeted at increasing awareness of climate change activities within schools. 

 3.1.1 Development of a ‘Stay Safe, Shop Local’ 
campaign using EU Welcome Back funding as 
an ongoing publicity tool in order to reduce 
carbon footprint through educating and 
encouraging people to reduce travel to 
shopping centres. 

The first 
campaign of its 
type, so no 
baseline 
measure is 
available 

Communications 
Manager 

January-March 
2022 

 

 

(potential EU funding) 

Completed 

 

 3.1.2 Engaging with local schools through various 
channels to promote and encourage climate 
change awareness and measures. 

Schools are being encouraged to sign up to 
national Eco Schools programme. 

No schools in 
the Borough 
had completed 
the Eco Schools 
programme 

Communications Team 
in liaison with relevant 
council departments 

Ongoing 

 

 

Tymberwood Academy has confirmed they are working 
toward Eco School status and the council is working with 
them to deliver this as a main project for the next academic 
year (2022/23).  Further activity has been limited due to the 
school summer holidays. 

 3.1.3 Working with partners such as Kent Resource 
Partnership and WRAP to identify and 
participate in key national campaigns and raise 
awareness via social media channels 

 Communications Team  Ongoing 

 

 

Campaigns delivered since the last update have focused on 
home composting, easter recycling, and cutting excess side 
waste to bring refuse tonnage under control and encourage 
recycling.  Future partner campaigns are currently being 
developed. 

 3.1.4 Use of Your Borough and Your Home 
magazines to reach all residents with updates 
and educational material regarding council’s 
efforts to reach Net Zero and how residents 
and businesses can contribute 

 Communications Team Ongoing 

 

 

The Autumn edition of Your Borough focuses on climate 
change activity.  The Autumn Your Home features energy-
saving tips and advice tied in with money-saving advice 
regarding the cost of living crisis. 

 3.1.5 Media releases/briefings regarding 
implementation of key measures (e.g., 
installation of EV charging points in council-
owned car parks). 

 Communications Team Ongoing 

 

 

Media releases since the last update have focused on 
Electric Vehicle (EV) charging, including features in the 
Autumn edition of Your Borough, positive action against fly-
tipping and energy efficiency works for council dwellings. 

 3.1.6 Consideration being given to parish events 
regarding Net Zero programme 

No parish 
events had 
previously been 
held 

Communications Team Ongoing 

 

 

A project led by representatives from the council’s Wider 
Management Team will explore opportunities to engage more 
greatly with parish events.  This project is due to report in 
March 2023. 

P
age 31



Page 2 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.1.7 Ensure engagement activities are undertaken 
with the community as required in line with key 
projects and directives being undertaken. 

 

 Communications Team 
(to lead on projects with 
relevant departments) 

Ongoing 

 

 

Publicity material was distributed at Riverside Festival. 

A project led by representatives from the council’s Wider 
Management Team will explore opportunities to develop a 
programme of engagement activity.  This project is due to 
report in March 2023. 

 

 3.1.8 Consider the establishment of an action group 
or forum where residents can come together to 
share ideas on climate change and behaviours. 

 Climate Change 
Delivery Manager (with 
support from 
Communications Team) 

Summer 2022 

 

 

A project led by representatives from the council’s Wider 
Management Team will explore opportunities to develop a 
programme of engagement activity.  This project is due to 
report in March 2023. 

 

3.2 Work with partners to promote and deliver initiatives to enable local residents to improve the efficiency of their homes. Inform and support local residents to reduce their own energy usage and consider 
renewable energy sources. 

 3.2.1 Active engagement in Phase Two of the Solar 
Together Scheme 

Phase 1 had 25 
registrations 
with 2 
progressing to 
installation 

Director (Corporate 
Services) 

Communications 
Manager 

January 2022 to 
October 2022 

 

 

The latest report on Phase Two delivery has indicated: 

 90 remote desktop surveys completed 

 74 onsite surveys completed 

 18 installations ready to book 

 27 installations booked 

 20 installations completed 

 3.2.2 Working with other partners in Kent to actively 
deliver initiatives in line with the Kent & 
Medway Low Emission Strategy, which meet 
the needs of Gravesham residents. 

 Climate Action Delivery 
Manager 

Ongoing 

 

 

The council was part of a successful bid to the Local 
Government Association (LGA) Behaviour Insights 
Programme to secure £65k to deliver a trial programme 
intended to encourage and empower low/middle-income 
households to make low or no-cost behaviour changes that 
will reduce their domestic energy consumption. The trial will 
focus on a ‘Share the Warmth’ scheme that will launch in mid-
October and end in March 2023. 

Following an internal review, the council is now represented 
at all levels of the county governance structure in place to 
direct and implement action to deliver the Kent & Medway 
Low Emission Strategy. 

 

 3.2.3 Actively engaging with organisations such as 
the Greater South East Energy hub to bring 
forward initiatives intended to improve 
efficiency in domestic properties. 

 Climate Action Delivery 
Manager 

Ongoing 

 

 

Council Officers are now actively attending 
meetings/sessions/webinars provided by organisations such 
as the Greater South East Energy Hub and sharing funding 
opportunities as and when come across with relevant teams. 

 

P
age 32



Page 3 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.2.4 In line with the Communications Strategy, 
ensure regular updates to residents to assist 
them in reducing their own energy usage and 
renewable energy options. 

 Climate Delivery Action 
Manager and 
Communications Team 

Ongoing 

 

 

Activity is underway to deliver new website content and other 
options for advice and guidance for residents to reduce their 
energy usage and, therefore, their energy bills. This action 
will also be taken forward by the project led by 
representatives from the council’s Wider Management Team 
referenced at 3.1.6. 

 

3.3 Work with partners to enable and support local businesses to decarbonise their premises and processes. 

 3.3.1 Work with businesses to identify funding 
opportunities to support improvements to 
energy efficiency within their business. 

 

 Climate Action Delivery 
Manager 

Funding Officer 

Senior Economic 
Development Officer 

Ongoing 

 

 

The council has established a Green Grant Scheme, which is 
being promoted by the Kent & Medway Growth Hub.  The 
scheme is intended to benefit up to 20 local businesses with 
grants of up to £10,000 to improve their business’ 
sustainability and energy use.  Initial awards are expected in 
the Autumn once applicants have completed a zero carbon 
audit to help focus their activity. 

Ongoing promotion of national and more local support 
schemes continues to take place via Your Borough, 
Gravesham Business Network newsletters, and 
@GraveshamForBiz.  

Initial contact has been made with the Head of Place at 
Innovate UK and the new resource for Local Authorities (Net 
Zero Go), designed to provide assistance to decarbonisation 
plans.    

 

 3.3.2 Work with the biggest emitters in the borough 
(as identified by BEIS) to encourage and 
support them in their decarbonisation plans 

 Climate Action Delivery 
Manager 

Senior Economic 
Development Officer 

 

Commence 2022 

 

 

Council officers met with representatives from Kimberly Clark 
in June to discuss decarbonisation;  the company has 
reduced its group carbon footprint by over 70% in recent 
years. 

A meeting is actively being sought with a large occupier at 
Springhead Enterprise Park to discuss the prospect of a local 
renewable energy generation scheme. 

 

 3.3.3 A green / carbon reduction business award. To 
help identify local firms providing low-carbon 
environmental goods and services and/or 
successful case studies of businesses reducing 
the operational carbon footprint  

 Senior Economic 
Development Officer 

 

By May 2022 

 

 

The Gravesham Business Awards ceremony took place on 23 
September.  After investigation, it was established that the 
awards committee was not supportive of having an explicit 
environmental category because this is not their usual 
approach but there is an intention on behalf of GBC, to seek 
to influence changes for future awards. 

 

 

P
age 33

https://www.netzerogo.org.uk/s/
https://www.netzerogo.org.uk/s/


Page 4 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

3.4 Implement a policy to ensure adequate consideration is given to the impacts on the environment of new development (residential and commercial).  Ensure that such developments support sustainable living 
and transport infrastructure and solutions for cycling, walking, and low/zero-emission vehicles. 

 3.4.1 Through the pre-application advice service, 
encourage applicants to submit policy-
compliant schemes which minimise the impacts 
of new development on the environment  

 Assistant Director 
(Planning) 

Ongoing 

 

 

Officers have identified that one area where proposals are 
often not policy compliant, is vehicle crossovers. Officers are 
working on some guidance to assist potential applicants and 
this will include environmental considerations.  

The draft guidance is being taken to the next Strategic 
Environment Cabinet Committee. 

 

 3.4.2 Ensure that emerging Local Plan policy, to 
support that in the Core Strategy, is framed 
with regard to the latest Government guidance, 
regulation and best practice 

 Assistant Director 
(Planning) 

Development of 
Local Plan policy 
in line with Local 
Development 
Scheme 

 

 

The Planning Policy team are progressing the Development 
Management Policies document. The Core Strategy Review 
and Site Allocations has been delayed due to transport 
modelling and need for surveys to be undertaken when traffic 
not constrained by Covid impacts. 

 

3.5 Develop electric vehicle charging infrastructure across the borough, both for resident, business and general public use. 

 3.5.1 Support residents, where it is possible to do so, 
in the introduction of domestic electric vehicle 
charging points in individual properties. 

(Subject to Government Legislation) 

 Climate Action Delivery 
Manager 

Ongoing from Q2 
2022-23 

 

 

There are now a number of different schemes available for 
flat owner-occupiers and tenants, residential landlords and 
residential car parks to apply for grants to plan the 
infrastructure necessary to install Electric Vehicle (EV) charge 
points. 

For more details, click on the below link 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-
grants-for-low-emission-vehicles 

The link also list OZEV approved installers 

Details were shared in the Autumn Your Borough magazine. 

 

 3.5.2 Explore opportunities for the provision of 
electric vehicle charging points within GBC-
owned assets and implement actions where a 
sound business case can be provided. 

There were no 
EV charge 
points installed 
on council 
owned land 
prior to these 
projects starting 

Assistant Director (IT 
and Transformation)  

Parking & 
Environmental 
Enforcement Services 
Manager 

March 2022 

 

 

In addition to the four EV charging points provided at Parrock 
Street and Milton Place it is intended that and an additional 
ten charging points will be delivered in Parrock Street under 
the same contract. 

Installation has commenced at seven sites within the borough 
with the majority of chargepoint trenches, ducting and 
charging posts being installed and awaiting connection to the 
electrical grid. 

 

 

P
age 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-grants-for-low-emission-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-grants-for-low-emission-vehicles


Page 5 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.5.3 Work with other businesses and service 
providers in the borough to support the 
provision of EV charging points within their own 
facilities. 

 

 

 Climate Action Delivery 
Manager 

Parking & 
Environmental 
Enforcement Services 
Manager 

Senior Economic 
Development Officer 

Commence 
Summer 2022 
and ongoing 
thereafter 

 

 

Officers are currently working on developing a strategy to 
engage private partners in the provision of Electric Vehicle 
(EV) Charging points within their own facilities in the borough. 

Parallel to this, desktop research is also being undertaken to 
identify financial incentives from installers / Government / 
third parties, which can be used to form part of an intended 
campaign to partner with landowners interested in installing 
EV points. 

 

 3.5.4 Explore opportunities for the provision of on 
and off street electric vehicle charging points 
for taxis/ private hire vehicles and implement 
such charging points where it is feasible to do 
so 

 Regulatory Services 
Manager 

Parking & 
Environmental 
Enforcement Services 
Manager 

Summer 2022 

 

 

Viability of potential sites has continued to be a challenge due 
to local grid constraints and high connection costs.  Officers 
have, however, now identified a site on Parrock Street to 
deliver the borough’s first dedicated taxi and private hire EV 
chargers, with top-up funding of circa £15k to be provided 
from the Climate Change Reserve to deliver the project. The 
project is part of the ‘Rapid Taxi Charger Project’ (50kw dual 
chargers) which resulted from a joint bid made by KCC in 
conjunction with partnering district LAs to the Government’s 
Round 2 ULEV Taxi Infrastructure Scheme, overseen by the 
Office of Zero Emission Vehicles (OZEV). 

3.6 Encourage active travel through the use of public transport, cycle routes and walking facilities across the borough, promoting the health and climate change benefits for all. 

 3.6.1 Working with Kent County Council to 
implement and publicise cycle lanes in 
appropriate locations across the borough. 

 Principal Transport and 
NSIP Project Manager  

Communications Team 

Ongoing 

 

 

A study is now underway following an inception meeting in 
mid-June. 

 

 

 3.6.2 Working with Kent County Council to bring the 
Mobility as a Service project (MaaS) to 
residents in the borough (including the Electric 
Vehicle car club) as an alternative to car 
ownership 

 Assistant Director (IT 
and Transformation)  

Parking & 
Environmental 
Enforcement Services 
Manager 

Until project 
completion 

 
 

 

Assistance continues to be provided to KCC on the 
development of a specification for awarding a contract for an 
“Electric Car Club” as part of the MaaS project. 

 

 

 

3.7 Work with partners to reduce and manage the impact of climate change impacts through adaptation, mitigation, sustainable flood risk management and promotion of the benefits of green infrastructure. 

 3.7.1 Work with key partners to progress the delivery 
of the new Fastrack bus lane proposed to be 
installed alongside the taxi rank and feeder 
lane in the town centre, which supports a 
reduction in vehicle emissions. 

 Regulatory Services 
Manager 

Until project 
completion 

 

 

KCC has consulted with the taxi trade and factored in 
responses received to make minor changes to the layout of 
the scheme.  Work is expected to progress next year.   

 

 

P
age 35



Page 6 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.7.2 Ensure the council, in its formal consultee role, 
ensures all planning applications and 
applications for Development Consent Orders, 
have due consideration to climate change 
mitigation and adaption such as EV charging 
points, air quality consideration, traffic 
management considerations etc 

 Regulatory Services 
Manager 

Assistant Director 
(Planning) 

Ongoing 

 

 

Officers are working on some driveway/drop kerb guidance 
and this will include environmental considerations as well as 
information on permitted development rights. The draft 
guidance is being taken to the next Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee. 

 

 3.7.3 Work with key partners including Environment 
Agency and KCC and developers, via the 
Planning System (Local Plan development and 
Planning Applications), and land managers to 
ensure that an integrated approach is taken to 
sustainable flood risk management 

 Assistant Director 
(Planning)  

Service Manager 
(Planning) 

Ongoing 

 

 

The Environment Agency have published Flood map for 
planning - GOV.UK (flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk) 
which gives a potential applicant the ability to find out if they 
need a flood risk assessment as part of a planning 
application.  This is currently being considered by officers as 
to whether this can be included within the local validation 
support that is provided to applicants. 

Officer comments were provided to Southern Water’s 
consultation on its Water Drainage and Wastewater 
Management Plan. 

 

3.8 Review council procurement policies and practice to help mitigate Climate Change. Actively assess major contractors’ commitment to achieving net zero by 2050 in the UK and work with these suppliers to 
improve their performance. 

 3.8.1 Ensure that Climate Change considerations are 
incorporated into the Council’s Procurement 
Strategy. 

 Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

September 2022 

 

 

The council has reviewed its Contract Procedure Rules, 
which govern and regulate the manner in which procurement 
and tendering activity takes place within the council.  As part 
of this review, the Contract Procedure Rules now make 
explicit reference to how the council will consider the carbon 
footprint of organisations in its supply chain.  

The updated Contract Procedure Rules will be considered for 
adoption by Full Council on 11th October.  Subject to this 
decision, attention will then focus on reviewing and updating 
the council’s Procurement Strategy to ensure this aligns to 
any updated Contract Procedure Rules. 

 3.8.2 For contracts over £250,000 per annum, 
require bidding suppliers to confirm their 
commitment to working towards net-zero 
emissions. 

 Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

From April 2022 

 

 

The proposed updates to the Contract Procedure Rules make 
explicit reference to ensuring that relevant tenders over a 
certain threshold include environmental impact 
considerations. 

 3.8.3 For construction contracts, seek supplier 
consideration of low emissions requirements in 
specifications such as the use of materials, 
equipment, property, travel and delivery 
mechanisms. 

 Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

From April 2022 

 

 

The proposed updates to the Contract Procedure Rules make 
explicit reference to sourcing sustainable products where 
possible, considering environmental impacts, and taking 
action to reduce the effect that the council’s activity has on 
the environment. 

 

P
age 36

https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/
https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/


Page 7 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.8.4 In accordance with Policy Procedure Note 
06/21, ensure that all council procurements 
over £5m per annum (excl. VAT) require the 
bidding suppliers to provide a Carbon 
Reduction Plan. 

 Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

Commenced 
October 2021 
and will be 
ongoing 

 

 

The proposed updates to the Contract Procedure Rules make 
explicit reference to ensuring that relevant tenders over a 
certain threshold include environmental impact 
considerations. 

 3.8.5 Actively work with strategic and/or significant 
suppliers to support improvement in their 
performance. 

 

 Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

From April 2022 

 

 

This action will be taken forward as procurement 
opportunities present themselves whilst the Supplier base is 
being reviewed. 

 

3.9 Continue to develop innovative and sustainable waste management solutions and opportunities for waste recycling and disposal. 

 3.9.1 Ensure that all properties across the borough 
have suitable recycling facilities  

PI8 & PI9  

Tonnages  

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Waste Projects and 
Compliance Officer 

 

Q4 2022/23  

 

 

Since August 2021, 542 more flats in the borough have dry 

mixed recycling collections and 663 more flats have food 

waste recycling collections.  In total, 32 blocks of flats have 

been given recycling provision in the past 13 months. 

Educational recycling leaflets have also been delivered to 976 

flats in the borough (15.3% of total Council & private flats). 

Overall, 13 months into the project, 56.3% of flats now have 

access to recycling facilities compared to 49.0% at the start of 

the project, and 14.7% of flats now have food waste collection 

compared to 4.4% in August 2021.  

Waste Management continues to engage with block 

management companies to deliver recycling for private blocks 

and are supporting Housing in delivering recycling to all 

general housing flats. 

Projects to deliver recycling to additional private flats continue 

to be planned as part of a rolling schedule to deliver flats 

recycling to the remaining private blocks. 

 

P
age 37



Page 8 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.9.2 Public education to reuse and recycle in the 
correct way  

PI8  

Pledge2Recycle 
Plastics Survey  

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Waste Projects and 
Compliance Officer 

Ongoing  

 

 

As blocks of flats receive recycling facilities, each flat 

receives an educational leaflet and bin areas receive bin 

stickers and signage. To date, 976 flats have received 

educational materials.  

A new service guide has been developed which is distributed 

with bin deliveries for new-build properties and to lettings 

agents and management companies.  The leaflet explains our 

waste & recycling services and how to recycle correctly. 

Recycling contamination and excess waste procedures have 

been put in place to educate residents about recycling, to 

minimise the refuse they present for collection, and to prevent 

recycling loads being rejected and sent to energy from waste 

due to contamination.  In the 9-months since the start of the 

contamination campaign, the rejected recycling tonnage 

reduced by 14.2%, or 110.9 tonnes, compared to the 9-

months leading up to the commencement of the campaign. 

The Dickens Estate has been identified as an area with high 

levels of recycling contamination and so a new bespoke 

leaflet has been developed to be trialed in this area to 

minimise loads of recycling being rejected and sent to energy 

from waste plants for incineration instead. 

Since the beginning of the excess waste campaign in March 

2022, our refuse tonnage has fallen by 143.9 tonnes (-1.9%) 

compared to the same period in 2021; and has fallen 279.2 

tonnes (-3.5%) compared to the same period in 2020 during 

the national lockdowns.  Refuse per household has also 

fallen by 7.4 kilograms (-3.5%) per household compared to 

the same period in 2021. 

Additional recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins have been installed in 

Parrock Street Car Park to support residents in being able to 

recycle while out and about in the borough.  To date, 6.6 

tonnes of street litter recycling has been collected through 

recycling ‘on-the-go’ bins, and Street Champions collecting 

littered plastic bottles and cans separately in clear sacks so 

that they can be recycled.   

Officers have engaged with schools, clubs, and community 

groups to engage with approximately 550 children & adults in 

the borough about litter & recycling.  Officers have also 

attended an Anti-Social Behaviour Event, the Riverside 

Festival, and Summer Fun Programme events to engage with 

residents, with more than 250 Street Champion & recycling 

leaflets distributed. 

 

P
age 38



Page 9 of 9 

 

KEY: 

 - under five members of staff involved in project delivery                                                  - between 5 and 10 members of staff involved in project delivery      -  10 or more members of staff involved in project delivery 

 - Low - less than £10,000                                                    - Medium - £10,000 - £50,000          - High - More than £50,000 

  Specific Action Baseline 
performance 

Owner Timescale Resource Officer updates 

 3.9.3 Work within the Kent Resource Partnership to 
develop new recycling streams and to ensure 
current waste disposal routes are sustainable  

Bulky waste & 
residual waste 
tonnages  

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Waste Projects and 
Compliance Officer 

 

Ongoing  

 

 

Since the last update, the Kent Resource Partnership has 
commenced work with Podback to trial the collection of used 
coffee pods from households’ doorsteps and it’s due to start 
in early 2023. 

 3.9.4 Work with third sector partners to develop new 
reuse options.  

Bulky waste & 
residual waste 
tonnages  

Assistant Director 
(Operations) 

Waste Projects and 
Compliance Officer 

 

Ongoing  

 

 

Officers continue to attempt to engage with organisations 

such as the Ellenor Hospice and the British Heart Foundation 

to develop initiatives to reuse items such as furniture. 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Climate Change Action Group 
 

Date: 12 October 2022 
 

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur- Service Manager (Housing Operations) 
James Young- Parks & Open Space Manager 
 

Subject: Biodiversity and tree planting improvements within the Borough of 
Gravesham 

Purpose and summary of report:  

1. To provide the Climate Change Advisory Board with an update on the proactive work 
the Parks & Open Space service regarding biodiversity and tree planting in the 
Borough and outline the plans for the next 12 months. 

Recommendations: 

1. For the Climate Change Advisory Board to note the contents of the report. 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Climate Change Act 2008 commits the government by law to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by net zero by 2050. 
 
As a local authority, Gravesham Borough Council has a duty to 
have regard to conserving biodiversity as part of our policy or 
decision making.  Conserving biodiversity can include restoring or 
enhancing a population or habitat. 
 
As a Regulatory Authority with responsibility for Planning 
Development and a landowner responsible for the management of 
trees and woodlands within parks and commons, the Council has 
a duty to care for its sylvan environment and to ensure it is 
protected and safe for the enjoyment of the public. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

Whilst the improvements so far have been delivered from existing 
budgets, going forward we will work with Finance on any potential 
budgetary increase as well as looking for external funding. 
 

Corporate Plan #1 People 
Carbon Neutral Borough: in declaring an emergency, begin to take 
action to prepare Gravesham to become carbon neutral by 2030. 
 
#1 People 

Page 41 Agenda Item 6



2 

Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an 
attractive town centre: a comprehensive programme of street 
cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

Climate Change  By restoring precious habitats and planting new native woodland 
with UK-grown trees, the Council will extend and create havens 
for wildlife, boosting biodiversity.  This goes hand in hand with the 
Council’s planting to mitigate climate change. 
 
Biodiversity can also support efforts to reduce the negative effects 
of climate change.  Conserved or restored habitats can remove 
carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, thus helping to address 
climate change by storing carbon. 
 
The Climate Change Action Delivery Plan outlines a number of 
key actions, one of which is to develop a Tree and Biodiversity 
Strategy for the Borough which will set out how these areas will be 
managed and improved both now and in future years. 

 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Biodiversity is the variety of life on Earth, in all its forms (including animals, plants, 
and fungi) and all its interactions. It matters, and many people agree that we have 
a moral duty to protect the other species of animals and plants with which we 
share this planet and to maintain diversity and genetic variety. 

1.2 It is important for people to enjoy being in natural landscapes, interacting with 
wildlife and being amongst wildlife habitats such as woodlands and grasslands 
and there is clear evidence that contact with nature is beneficial to our physical 
and mental wellbeing. Biodiversity also provides economic and functional benefits 
known as ecosystem services: from habitats that help reduce flooding by 
absorbing, slowing the flow and storing water, through to individual species that 
pollinate food crops, to habitats that ameliorate the effects of climate change and 
extreme weather event. 

1.3 Trees are a vital part of our natural life support system cleaning the air we 
breathe, moderating climatic extremes and contributing to the health and 
wellbeing of the community. They are amongst the most significant features in the 
landscape and provide a habitat for many other species. For hundreds of years 
trees have been cultivated not just for timber, food, shelter and medicine but 
simply for their intrinsic beauty. They are a part of our history and culture and 
have been worshipped, celebrated and revered in myth and folklore. 

1.4 At the Climate Change Advisory Board in May 2022, the Board were presented 
with the Climate Change Action Delivery Plan which supported the Climate 
Change Strategy which outlined a number of key actions, one of which was to 
develop a Tree and Biodiversity Strategy for the Borough which will set out how 
these areas will be managed and improved in the Borough both now and in future 
years.     

1.5 Whilst this is a significant piece of work to do properly, work on this has 
commenced and will be completed by the end of the financial year 2022/23.  
However, a number of positive steps and changes have already been made to 
improve biodiversity within the Borough as well as increasing the number of trees 
planted which is outlined in section 2 of the report. 

Page 42



3 

2. Progress so far 

2.1 In line with the developing biodiversity strategy for Gravesham it was key to 
migrate away from seasonal bedding that although brings immediate colour to 
locations, is a false economy as they need to be changed frequently.  

2.2 Instead, the decision has been to move to perennial beds in key locations 
because it encourages positive biodiversity messaging, and improves species mix 
for pollination, water filtrations and soil aeration and brings better value for the 
council. The plan is for these chosen flowers and grasses to spread and gradually 
fill the void spaces that have been left to produce the same seasonal colour and 
promote those areas as a natural environment that is being designed with the 
same continued mission, to rewild correctly. 

2.3 There has also been a drive to increase planting within the town centre to 
increase the level of pollinators.  This has been achieved by introducing flowering 
rowing boats around the main thoroughfares to the town and on the one-way 
system, including West Street, Parrock Street, Crooked Lane, the Clock Tower, 
Perry Street and on a bed at the promenade that was severely damaged by the 
salt water from the flooding. They have received many positive comments and 
support from residents and will be a programme that we will continue and look to 
develop over the coming years. 

  

2.4 Towards the end of the 2021/22 tree planting season (October to March) there 
were 3,174 trees planted in a number of locations. These were made up of 146 
standards and heavy standards and the remainder whips that were planted as 
natural boundaries and as part of memorial and rewilding areas.  Once these are 
established it is anticipated they will remove 69 tonnes of CO2 over 20 years.

 

Page 43



4 

2.5 A majority of the standard and heavy standard trees were planted in urban 
environments to strengthen the progression within the Council’s overall tree 
strategy and enhancing the existing housing portfolio and green estate. These are 
in locations such as Ridgeway Bungalows, Racefield Close, Durndale Rec, Lorton 
Close, Scratton Fields, Mungo Park, Sheers Green Community Hall, St Aidans 
Way and Valley Drive, as well as open spaces like Camer Park, Windmill 
Gardens, Gravesend Cemetery, Riverside Leisure Park and Woodlands Park. 

  

  

2.6 Wildflowers were introduced at twelve locations within the borough, including a 
swathe at The Warren (for testing), Cygnet Leisure Centre, Dene Holm Road, 
Gainsborough Drive, Constable Road, Perry Street, Windmill gardens, The Dell, 
Buzz Gardens, Whitehill Flats, The Warren, Cobham and New Tavern Fort. 

Many of these sites has elements of success but they were seasonal and with the 
dry season and exceptionally hot summer they didn’t establish as was hoped, 

Page 44



5 

however there is sign that there will be growth in those areas next year. 

Early season wildflower growth @Warren 

2.7 Gordons Lake in previous years has had an average of £6,900 per year spent on 
the use of herbicide and contractors to manage the clear back of water reeds and 
removal of surface algae blooms. Contractors had used chemicals (Glyphosate), 
which is a non-selective herbicide, meaning it will kill most plants and has been 
suspected of causing genetic damage. The decision was made to encourage a 
natural habitat to pond and birdlife after the stress that has been put onto the 
ecosystem following the flood. 

2.8 Since this decision was made to support the lake as an area of natural beauty, we 
have seen controlled reed regrowth, and approximately eight different species of 
bird, including swans and cygnets, Egyptian geese and Grey plover (Pluvialis 
squatarola).                                             

 

2.9 New Tavern rampart clearance was a necessary requirement for English Heritage, 
but it allowed us to not only open the gun enclosures and battlements but also see 
that it could be enhanced to not only provide protection to this structure from root 
damage but also provide habituate for wildlife in the development of the Dell. 

Page 45



6 

2.10 The Bee Garden at Windmill Hill has continued to develop with the remapping of 
the grass pathways, wildflower areas, inclusion of several bee structures and 
season floral display. This season volunteers have identified Buff-tailed 
bumblebee, Red-tailed bumblebee, Common Carder bee, Honeybee, solitary 
bees and red mason (in nests), as well as Common Blue, Gatekeeper, Red 
Admiral, Comma, Large and Small White, Small Copper Butterflies, 6-spot Burnet 
moth, Cinnabar moth & caterpillars and Wasp spider. 

  
2.11 The Council have worked with Windmill Hill Association volunteers who have 

dedicated over 165 hours to date in 2022 to ensure it is managed for the public to 
enjoy, and they have been hosting several events for groups like the Girl Guides. 

 

2.12 There have been 20 bat, bird and owl boxes installed in various locations in the 
Borough to promote habitat for wildlife, the proposal is to continue this scheme as 
there have been a few sightings in some of these locations, but typically it will be a 
few seasons before wildlife is comfortable about making these permanent fixtures. 

Page 46



7 

3. Future plans  

3.1 It is essential that the Council are making every effort to not only enhance the 
surrounding open spaces but also define the urban green spaces as they offer 
many people an area of tranquillity, a space for light physical exercise for animals 
and owners and confirms a genuine need to improve these for aesthetics and 
societal benefits as well as an opportunity for biodiversity.  

3.2 To do this the Council will develop an identity for each of the parks and open 
spaces in the borough (Heritage | Biodiversity | Leisure) with the aim to define 
clear communication to those visiting and those who live adjacent to the spaces. 
This action should allow us to make it easier to develop the regreening agenda 
and enhance the protection of wildlife and ensure we are planting the right trees in 
the right locations with the right protection and maintenance. 

3.3 The Council are also now part of the newly formed Kent and Medway Plan Tree 
Partnership (KMPTP) Steering Group and Delivery Group to review the overall 
tree strategy in line with the want to increase the tree canopy coverage in 
Gravesham by 8% by 2030. As you might imagine this is likely to require 
increased and strategic opportunity outside of our current green estate and might 
require the compulsory land purchase to surrounding areas that we will be able to 
not only use towards this regreening of Gravesham. 

Being part of this steering group allows Gravesham to work with other councils 
across Kent and nationally to ensure we are developing towards a goal that fits 
our requirements and is in accordance with the identities defined for each of our 
open spaces, and urban green spaces. 

3.4 As these strategies are slightly delayed because they are being referenced from 
commissioned surveys, external methodologies, and holistic data, we wanted to 
ensure that the Council is still making a positive impact on the overall agenda to 
plant trees. With that in mind, we are in the process of ordering approximately 150 
interesting heavy standard trees that fit the tree makeup of the Borough but also 
diversify the portfolio. The major benefit, as well as the instant aesthetic 
improvement but also the passive betterment of mental wellness; it also brings a 
faster sequestering of carbon (4 tonnes in <10 years) and habitat of wildlife. 

3.5 To assist in the overall efforts for tree planting we will work with Defra-approved 
charities such as MORE:Trees and Trees for Cities, and KCC programmes like 
‘Trees Outside Woodlands’ to initiate a scheme to soften our landscape by 
planting natural hedgerows that will over time protect Council land and 
aesthetically make our open spaces more inviting by removing the palisade 
fencing within the Borough, 

3.6 As well as planting new trees, it is also essential to look after what we have got. 
We will do this by using recycled woodchip as mulch, to contain the moisture 
should we get a dry season through 2023.  

3.7 To build upon the biodiversity improvements at Gravesend Promenade we are 
developing a continuing strategy of wildlife habitat in the Dell and lower rampart 
with the help of Lower Thames Crossing (LTC) funding and North Kent 
Countryside Partnership we are proposing plans to plant ferns, heathers, lowland 
shrubs, and trees that encourage and protect wildlife from predators and people. 

3.8 Phase 2 of Gordons Lake will see the continued development of the surrounding 
of the lake, now that full testing has been made of the water the Council are in a 
better position to plan suitable water reed and vegetation that will encourage 

Page 47



8 

birdlife and offer protection from the element, nesting sites and habitat for 
pondlife. 

3.9 This will include the development of a more 
sustainable water filtration system, a more energy-
efficient water aeration system and floating island 
water beds that will offer controlled colour, habitat for 
wildlife and remove harmful metals and nutrients from 
the water, they also mean plants can be added that 
will protect the butane liner from invasive rooting 
plants. This will remove the need for the current 
system which has an annual electric bill of just over 
£6,000 and average consumption of 38,564 kWh per annum. 

3.10 The Council have successfully bid for money from LTC to work with independent 
ecologists and KCC specialist to propose a chalk grassland feature at the Warren. 
This year we have started this work by introducing a full cut and collect, the 
purpose of which to take it back to bare growing medium and allow fresh growth 
for the season. In June and September an analyse was done on the existing 
grassland, wildflowers, and insect variety with the plan to trial areas for wildflower 
seed mixes to be sown. 

3.11 The proposal will be to cover the lower section of this land using a contractor with 
the knowledge of the local area, and success in sowing on this distinct soil 
structure. This will commence in Autumn with a mix that will bring seasonal colour 
to that area, and we can use the successful mixes to develop within other urban 
environments and open spaces that are identified as set aside for biodiversity 

3.12 Between 2022 and 2023 the Council will develop various urban green spaces, to 
migrate them from a site for simple grass cutting and instead plant shrubs that 
offer more to more people and promote a stronger message of ecosystem 
diversity. These will be in a number of areas in line with the urban tree planting so 
to compliment the corporate service agenda 

4. Summary 

4.1 In summary, whilst a formal Biodiversity and Tree strategy for the Borough is yet 
to be formalised, a number of positive steps have been made and will continue in 
future years. 

 
5. Appendices  

5.1 There are no appendices 

6. Background Documents  

6.1 There are no background documents 

Lead Officer:  Nicole Arthur, Service Manager (Housing Operations) 

Email:             nicole.arthur@gravesham.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 48



9 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment  None 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder None 

Digital and website 
implications 

None 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

None 

 

Page 49

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes from Previous Meeting
	5 Climate Change Delivery Plan and preparations for Annual Reporting
	2. Climate Change Management Plan - Priority One - Teams Version (002)
	3. Climate Change Management Plan - Priority Two - Teams Version
	4. Climate Change Management Plan - Priority Three - Teams Version

	6 Biodiversity and tree planting improvements within the Borough of Gravesham



